

# Medication Reconciliation at Discharge: A Rapid Review

A Lambrinos

February 2015

Evidence Development and Standards Branch at Health Quality Ontario

### **Suggested Citation**

This report should be cited as follows:

Lambrinos A. Medication reconciliation at discharge: a rapid review. Toronto: Health Quality Ontario; 2015 February. 24 p. Available from: <u>http://www.hqontario.ca/evidence/evidence-process/episodes-of-care#community-chf.</u>

#### **Permission Requests**

All inquiries regarding permission to reproduce any content in Health Quality Ontario reports should be directed to <u>EvidenceInfo@hqontario.ca</u>.

#### How to Obtain Rapid Reviews From Health Quality Ontario

All rapid reviews are freely available in PDF format at the following URL: http://www.hqontario.ca/evidence/publications-and-ohtac-recommendations/rapid-reviews.

#### **Conflict of Interest Statement**

All authors in by the Evidence Development and Standards branch at Health Quality Ontario are impartial. There are no competing interests or conflicts of interest to declare.

#### **Rapid Review Methodology**

Rapid reviews are completed in 2–4-week time frames. Clinical questions are developed by the Evidence Development and Standards branch at Health Quality Ontario, in consultation with experts, end users, and/or applicants in the topic area. A systematic literature search is then conducted to identify relevant systematic reviews, health technology assessments, and meta-analyses. The methods prioritize systematic reviews, which, if found, are rated by AMSTAR to determine the methodological quality of the review. If the systematic review has evaluated the included primary studies using the GRADE Working Group criteria (<u>http://www.gradeworkinggroup.org/index.htm</u>), the results are reported and the rapid review process is complete. If the systematic review has not evaluated the primary studies using GRADE, the primary studies in the systematic review are retrieved and the GRADE criteria are applied to 2 outcomes. If no systematic review is found, then RCTs or observational studies are included, and their risk of bias is assessed. All rapid reviews are developed and finalized in consultation with experts.

### **About Health Quality Ontario**

Health Quality Ontario is an arms-length agency of the Ontario government. It is a partner and leader in transforming Ontario's health care system so that it can deliver a better experience of care, better outcomes for Ontarians, and better value for money.

Health Quality Ontario strives to promote health care that is supported by the best available scientific evidence. The Evidence Development and Standards branch works with expert advisory panels, clinical experts, scientific collaborators, and field evaluation partners to conduct evidence-based reviews that evaluate the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of health interventions in Ontario.

Based on the evidence provided by Evidence Development and Standards and its partners, the Ontario Health Technology Advisory Committee—a standing advisory subcommittee of the Health Quality Ontario Board—makes recommendations about the uptake, diffusion, distribution, or removal of health interventions to Ontario's Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, clinicians, health system leaders, and policy-makers.

Health Quality Ontario's research is published as part of the *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*, which is indexed in MEDLINE/PubMed, Excerpta Medica/Embase, and the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination database. Corresponding Ontario Health Technology Advisory Committee recommendations and other associated reports are also published on the Health Quality Ontario website. Visit <u>http://www.hqontario.ca</u> for more information.

### **About Health Quality Ontario Publications**

To conduct its rapid reviews, Evidence Development and Standards and its research partners review the available scientific literature, making every effort to consider all relevant national and international research; collaborate with partners across relevant government branches; consult with expert advisory panels, clinical and other external experts, and developers of health technologies; and solicit any necessary supplemental information.

In addition, Evidence Development and Standards collects and analyzes information about how a health intervention fits within current practice and existing treatment alternatives. Details about the diffusion of the intervention into current health care practices in Ontario add an important dimension to the review. Information concerning the health benefits, economic and human resources, and ethical, regulatory, social, and legal issues relating to the intervention may be included to assist in making timely and relevant decisions to optimize patient outcomes.

#### Disclaimer

This rapid review is the work of the Evidence Development and Standards branch at Health Quality Ontario, and is developed from analysis, interpretation, and comparison of published scientific research. It also incorporates, when available, Ontario data and information provided by experts. As this is a rapid review, it may not reflect all the available scientific research and is not intended as an exhaustive analysis. Health Quality Ontario assumes no responsibility for omissions or incomplete analysis resulting from its rapid reviews. In addition, it is possible that other relevant scientific findings may have been reported since completion of the review. This report is current as of the date of the literature search specified in the Research Methods section. Health Quality Ontario makes no representation that the literature search captured every publication that was or could be applicable to the subject matter of the report. This rapid review may be superseded by an updated publication on the same topic. Please check the Health Quality Ontario website for a list of all publications: <a href="http://www.hqontario.ca/evidence/publications-and-ohtac-recommendations.">http://www.hqontario.ca/evidence/publications-and-ohtac-recommendations.</a>

## **Table of Contents**

List of Abbreviations	5
Background	6
Rapid Review	8
Research Question	8
Research Methods	8
Expert Panel	8
Quality of Evidence	9
Results of Rapid Review	9
Limitations	13
Conclusions	14
Acknowledgements	15
Appendices	17
Appendix 1: Literature Search Strategies	17
Appendix 2: Evidence Quality Assessment	19
References	22

## **List of Abbreviations**

ADE	Adverse Drug Events
AMSTAR	Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews
BPMH	Best Possible Medication History
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation
PADE	Possible Adverse Drug Events
RCT	Randomized controlled trial

## Background

As legislated in Ontario's *Excellent Care for All Act*, Health Quality Ontario's mandate includes the provision of objective, evidence-informed advice about health care funding mechanisms, incentives, and opportunities to improve quality and efficiency in the health care system. As part of its Quality-Based Procedures (QBP) initiative, Health Quality Ontario works with multidisciplinary expert panels (composed of leading clinicians, scientists, and administrators) to develop evidence-based practice recommendations and define episodes of care for selected disease areas or procedures. Health Quality Ontario's recommendations are intended to inform the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care's Health System Funding Strategy.

For more information on Health Quality Ontario's Quality-Based Procedures initiative, visit <u>www.hqontario.ca</u>.

## **Objective of Analysis**

The objective of this analysis is to determine the effectiveness of medication reconciliation on hospital readmission rates, emergency department visits, and clinically significant unintended drug discrepancies by comparing those patients who received medication reconciliation at predetermined care transition points to those who did not.

### **Clinical Need and Target Population**

Medication errors are frequent, costly, and potentially harmful. (1) Up to 67% of patients have unintended medication discrepancies at hospital admission (2) and these discrepancies remain common at discharge. (3;4) Transitional care is a key focus of error reduction (5) as more than 40% of medication errors take place when patients move between different stages and settings of care. (6) Specifically, for those patients transitioning from hospital to home, medications discrepancies have been linked to increased re-hospitalization rates. (3)

### Technology/Technique

Medication reconciliation involves a systematic and comprehensive review of all the medications a patient is taking to ensure that medications being added, changed or discontinued are carefully assessed and documented. It is intended to ensure accurate communication and documentation consistently across transitions of care. (7)

Medication reconciliation is a three-step process that should be uniform across care transition points:

1. Create an accurate Best Possible Medication History (BPMH) of the patient's medication (prescribed and non-prescribed), which includes documenting the name, dosage, route, and frequency using one or more sources of information (e.g., general practitioner medical records, patient's own supply, pharmacy records, patient/family interview);

- 2. Use the BPMH to create admission orders or compare medication history against admission, transfer, or discharge medication orders, and resolve any discrepancies;
- 3. Document and communicate to the patient, family/caregiver, and the next provider of care any changes in medication orders. (8;9)

### **Regulatory Status**

Over 1,100 health care organizations participate in Accreditation Canada programs every year. Medication reconciliation was introduced into the Accreditation Canada program in 2005. (9;10) This program assesses and validates compliance that contributes to improving quality and safety, and mitigates risk through Required Organizational Practices (ROPs). ROPs are evidence-based practices. Two ROPs exist for medication reconciliation, these are: Medication Reconciliation at Admission and Medication Reconciliation at Transfer or Discharge. (9;10) These ROPs are detailed steps (explained above) that are to be followed when performing medication reconciliation.

For those organizations that participate in Accreditation Canada programs, at the service level, compliance rates for Medication Reconciliation at Admission improved from 47% in 2010 to 60% in 2011, and Medication Reconciliation at Transfer or Discharge improved from 36% in 2010 to 50% in 2011. (10)

## **Rapid Review**

### **Research Question**

What is the effectiveness of medication reconciliation at discharge compared to no medication reconciliation on patient outcomes?

### **Research Methods**

### **Literature Search**

### Search Strategy

A literature search was performed on November 14, 2013, using Ovid MEDLINE, Ovid MEDLINE In-Process and Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid Embase, EBSCO Cumulative Index to Nursing & Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), and EBM Reviews for studies published from January 1, 2008, to November 14, 2013. (Appendix 1 provides details of the search strategies.) Abstracts were reviewed by a single reviewer and, for those studies meeting the eligibility criteria, full-text articles were obtained. Reference lists were also examined for any additional relevant studies not identified through the search.

### **Inclusion Criteria**

- English-language full-text publications
- published between January 1, 2008, and November 14, 2013
- systematic reviews, meta-analyses, health technology assessments
- patients being discharged from acute hospital to home

### **Exclusion Criteria**

- Patients being discharged from hospital to another facility (e.g., long-term-care home)
- Studies focusing on an electronic system for medication reconciliation
- Studies that did not include a control group

### **Outcomes of Interest**

- 30-day hospital readmission
- Emergency department visits
- Clinically significant unintended medication discrepancies
  - This includes Adverse Drug Events (ADE) and Potential Adverse Drug Events (PADE)

### **Expert Panel**

In December 2013, an Expert Advisory Panel on Post-Acute, Community-Based Care for CHF Patients was struck. Members of the community-based panels included family physicians, physician specialists, community health care administrators, and allied health professionals.

The role of the expert advisory panel was to provide advice on primary CHF patient groupings; to review the evidence, guidance, and publications related to defined CHF patient populations; to identify and prioritize interventions and areas of community-based care; and to advise on the development of a care pathway model. The role of panel members was to provide advice on the scope of the project, the methods used, and the findings. However, the statements, conclusions, and views expressed in this report do not necessarily represent the views of the expert panel members.

### **Quality of Evidence**

The Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) measurement tool was used to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. (11)

The quality of the body of evidence for each outcome was examined according to the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) Working Group criteria. (12) The overall quality was determined to be high, moderate, low, or very low using a step-wise, structural methodology.

Study design was the first consideration; the starting assumption was that randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are high quality, whereas observational studies are low quality. Five additional factors—risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision, and publication bias—were then taken into account. Limitations in these areas resulted in downgrading the quality of evidence. Finally, 3 main factors that may raise the quality of evidence were considered: the large magnitude of effect, the dose response gradient, and any residual confounding factors. (12) For more detailed information, please refer to the latest series of GRADE articles. (12)

As stated by the GRADE Working Group, the final quality score can be interpreted using the following definitions:

High	High confidence in the effect estimate—the true effect lies close to the estimate of the effect.
Moderate	Moderate confidence in the effect estimate—the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but may be substantially different.
Low	Low confidence in the effect estimate—the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.
Very Low	Very low confidence in the effect estimate—the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

### **Results of Rapid Review**

The database search yielded 109 citations published between January 1, 2008, and November 14, 2013, (with duplicates removed). Articles were excluded based on information in the title and abstract. The full texts of potentially relevant articles were obtained for further assessment.

One systematic review met the inclusion criteria. The reference lists of the included studies and health technology assessment websites were hand-searched to identify other relevant studies, but none were found that met the inclusion criteria.

The systematic review by Kwan et al (13) examined medication reconciliation on discrepancies with the potential to harm ("clinically significant discrepancies") and hospital utilization after discharge, specifically emergency department visits and hospital readmission within 30 days of discharge. This systematic review scored highly on the AMSTAR scale with a score of 8 out of a possible 11. Some limitations included no assessment of publication bias, no list provided of excluded studies and not searching of grey literature. Three systematic reviews were also reviewed but not utilized for this review because they did not directly address the question for this review, added no extra articles that were not already included within the systematic review utilized and were not the most recent.

Table 1 provides the characteristics of the 5 RCTs and 2 observational studies that were extracted from Kwan et al (13) because they included medication reconciliation as an intervention and took place at discharge from acute care.

Author, Year	Setting (Country)	Population	Study Design (Sample Size)	Person performing Medication Reconciliation	Additional Interventions	Outcomes	Results <sup>a</sup>
Parry et al, 2009 (14)	Any unit (except for psychiatric) in 2 community- based hospitals (USA)	Patients 65 and older <sup>b</sup>	RCT (98) Intervention group (49) Control group (49)	Transitional coaches	Patient education, timely clinic follow-up, home visit, transition coach, patient- centered discharge instructions	30-day hospital readmission	Intervention patients had lower hospital readmission rates than control patients at 30 days (2.3% vs. 9.5%, P = 0.20)
Dedhia et al, 2009 (15)	Medical unit in academic medical centre, community teaching hospital and urban community hospital (USA)	Patients 65 and older <sup>b</sup>	Prospective before-and- after study (185)	Physician followed by a Pharmacist (for review)	Safe STEPS intervention, including admission assessment, communication with PCP, and multidisciplinary discharge meeting	30-day hospital readmission Emergency department visits within 30 days of discharge	The intervention period had a lower rate of hospital readmission (22% vs. 14%, OR, 0.59; 95% CI, 0.34–0.97) and fewer visits to the emergency department (21% vs. 14%, OR, 0.61; 95% CI, 0.36–1.03; P = 0.06) compared to the control period.
Jack et al, 2009 (16)	Medical unit in academic medical centre (USA)	Patients aged 18 and older	RCT (738) Intervention group (370) Control group (368)	Nurse discharge advocate	Post- hospitalization care plan and post-discharge telephone call	30-day hospital readmission Emergency department visits within	Intervention participants had a lower rate of readmission than usual care participants (IRR, 0.720; 95% CI, 0.445- 1.164; P = 0.090) Intervention participants had a lower rate of emergency

#### Table 1: Summary of Studies Examining Medication Reconciliation on Patient Outcomes

Author, Year	Setting (Country)	Population	Study Design (Sample Size)	Person performing Medication Reconciliation	Additional Interventions	Outcomes	Results <sup>a</sup>
						30 days of discharge	department visits than did usual care participants (IRR=0.674; 95% Cl, 0.476- 0.955; P = 0.014)
							Intervention participants had a lower rate of hospital utilization than did usual care participants (IRR, 0.695; 95% CI, 0.515- 0.937; P = $0.009)^{\circ}$
Koehler et al, 2009 (17)	Medical unit in academic medical	Patients age ≥70 years with ≥5 medications, ≥3 chronic comorbid conditions, with ≥1 requiring assistance with ADL <sup>b</sup>	RCT (41) Intervention group (20)	Pharmacist	Counselling by pharmacist, post-discharge telephone call, discharge letter to PCP	30-day hospital readmission	Intervention group readmission/ED visit rates were
	centre (USA)		Control group (21)			Emergency department visits within 30 days of discharge	reduced at 30 days compared to the control group (10.0% vs. $38.1\%$ , $P = 0.04$ )
Schnipper et al, 2006 (18)	Medical unit in academic medical	Patients admitted to the medical	RCT (176)	Pharmacist	None	30-day hospital readmission	The rate of preventable, medication-
	centre (USA)	unit	Control group (84)			ED visits within 30 days of discharge	ED visits or hospital readmissions was 1% in the intervention group and 8% in those assigned to usual care (P = 0.03)
						Clinically significant discrepancies (ADE, PADE)	PADEs had occurred in 1 patient in the intervention group and 8 in the usual-care group (1% vs. 11%; $P = 0.01$ ; unadjusted odds ratio, 0.10; 95% CI, 0.013-0.86)
							The groups did not differ significantly with respect to total ADEs ( <i>P</i> > 0.99), total

Author, Year	Setting (Country)	Population	Study Design (Sample Size)	Person performing Medication Reconciliation	Additional Interventions	Outcomes	Results <sup>a</sup>
							health care utilization ( <i>P</i> > 0.99)
Walker et al, 2009 (19)	Medical unit in academic centre (USA)	≥1 of the following: ≥5 medications, ≥1 targeted medications, medication requiring monitoring, ≥2 changes to regimen, dementia or confusion, or inability to manage medications <sup>b</sup>	Prospective quasi- experimental study (358)	Pharmacist or pharmacy resident	None	30-day hospital readmission ED visits within 30 days of discharge	Readmission rates did not differ significantly between groups at 30 days (22.1% vs. 18%; P = 0.17), nor did ED visits (2.8% vs. 2.2%; P = 0.60)
						Clinically significant discrepancies (PADE)	Medication discrepancies at discharge were identified in 33.5% of intervention patients and in 59.6% of control patients ( <i>P</i> < 0.001)
Kripalani et al, 2012 (20)	Medical and Cardiology units in 2 academic medical centres (USA)	Patients admitted into the medical and cardiology units	RCT (851) Intervention group (423) Control group (428)	Pharmacist	Inpatient pharmacist counselling, low-literacy adherence aids, post- discharge telephone calls	Clinically significant discrepancies (PADE)	The mean number of PADE was similar in the intervention and usual care groups (0.87 vs. 0.95 per patient). Although the treatment effect favored the intervention, this difference was not statistically significant (unadjusted IRR, 0.92; 95% CI, 0.77-1.10)

Abbreviations: ADL, activities of daily life; ED, emergency department; RCT, randomized controlled trial; STEPS, Safe and Successful Transition of Elderly Patients; ADE, adverse drug event; CI, confidence interval; IRR, incidence rate ratio; OR, odds ratio; PADE, potential adverse drug events; PCP, primary care physician.

<sup>a</sup>Green font, statistically significant results; blue font, a trend towards significant results; red font, no statistically significant results. <sup>b</sup>Defined as high-risk patients.

<sup>c</sup>Defined as the sum of emergency department visits plus rehospitalizations. An emergency department visit that leads to a rehospitalization is counted only as a rehospitalization.

It is difficult to isolate factors that contribute to a successful discharge plan. However, there are some common factors that may contribute to a successful intervention. First, most (5 of 7) of the interventions studied relied heavily on pharmacists, with 4 studies finding lower readmission, emergency, or medication discrepancies rates. Second, some studies (4 of 7) included what they defined as a high-risk sample, with 3 finding lower readmission, emergency, or medication discrepancies rates.

### Limitations

Some limitations arise when drawing conclusions about medication reconciliation as an intervention. Five of the 7 individual studies bundled medication reconciliation with other interventions aimed at improving care coordination at hospital discharge, but the specific effect of medication reconciliation within a multifaceted approach may not be apparent.

# Conclusions

Based on low to moderate quality evidence, results of medication reconciliation on patient outcomes are mixed. Three individual studies (2 RCTs and 1 observational) found no difference in hospital readmission rates within 30 days of discharge between intervention and control groups. However, 3 studies (2 RCTs and 1 observational) found a statistically significant reduction in hospital readmission rates within 30 days in the intervention group compared to the control group. Two observational studies found no difference in emergency department visits within 30 days of discharge between the intervention and control group, and 3 RCT studies found a statistically significant reduction in emergency department visits within 30 days of discharge between the intervention and control groups. Two RCT studies found clinically significant difference in medication discrepancies (PADE or ADE) between intervention and control groups.

It is not possible to make conclusions about the effect of medication reconciliation on patient outcomes as there is limited evidence on medication reconciliation in isolation of other care coordination interventions.

## Acknowledgements

### **Editorial Staff**

**Timothy Maguire** 

### **Medical Information Services**

Corinne Holubowich, BEd, MLIS Kellee Kaulback, BA(H), MISt

## Health Quality Ontario's Expert Advisory Panel on Post-Acute, Community-Based Care for CHF Patients

Name	Affiliation(s)	Appointment(s)		
Panel Co-Chairs				
Dr Douglas Lee	Toronto General Hospital Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences (ICES)	Cardiologist Senior Scientist		
Dr Jennifer Everson	Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant LHIN	Primary care LHIN Lead		
Cardiology				
Dr Robert McKelvie	McMaster University Hamilton Health Sciences Hamilton Health Sciences Heart Function Clinic	Professor of Medicine Cardiologist Medical Director		
Dr Paul Oh	Toronto Rehab Cardiac Program, University Health Network	Medical Director		
Dr Catherine Demers	McMaster University	Associate Professor		
Dr Robert Maranda	Ottawa Cardiovascular Centre University of Ottawa	Physician Assistant Professor		
Geriatric Medicine				
Dr George Heckman	University of Waterloo, University of McMaster	Associate Professor Assistant Clinical Professor		
Primary Care				
Dr Agatha Szlanta	Providence Continuing Care Center, St. Mary's of the Lake Hospital	Attending Medical Staff		
Dr Jess Goodman	Summerville Family Health Team	Staff Physician, Department of Family Practice		
Nursing				
Karen Harkness	McMaster University, Heart Function Clinic	Registered Nurse Clinician		
Heather Sherrard	University of Ottawa Heart Services	Vice President, Clinical Services		
Jan Hoffman	London Health Sciences Centre	Advanced Practice Nurse Heart Failure Treatment		
Jane Maclver	Toronto General Hospital	Nurse Practitioner-Heart Failure and Heart Transplant Program		

Name	Affiliation(s)	Appointment(s)
Linda Belford	University Health Network	Nurse Practitioner, Practice Leader
Physiotherapy		
Diana Hopkins-Rosseel	Canadian Physiotherapy Association, Queens University	Cardiorespiratory Clinical Specialist
Clinical Pharmacy		
Heather Kertland	St. Michael's Hospital	Clinical Pharmacy Specialist, Heart and Vascular Program
Dietary Care		
Anne-Marie Leuchs	University of Ottawa Heart	
	Institute	Registered Dietician, Cardiac Care
Administration	Institute	Registered Dietician, Cardiac Care
Administration Rosalind Tarrant	Institute Hamilton/Niagara LHIN	Director, Access to Care
Administration   Rosalind Tarrant   Sherry Grace	Institute Hamilton/Niagara LHIN York University University Health Network	Registered Dietician, Cardiac Care     Director, Access to Care     Associate Professor

## Appendices

### **Appendix 1: Literature Search Strategies**

### Search date: November 14, 2013

**Databases searched:** OVID MEDLINE, MEDLINE In-Process and Other Non-Indexed Citations, All EBM Databases (see below)

**Q:** What is the effectiveness of medication reconciliation at transitions of care (i.e., discharge from hospital) compared to no medication reconciliation on hospital readmission and adverse drug events? **Limits:** January 1, 2008, to November 14, 2013 **Filters**: Meta-analyses, systematic reviews, health technology assessments

Database: EBM Reviews - Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews <2005 to October 2013>, EBM Reviews - ACP Journal Club <1991 to November 2013>, EBM Reviews - Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects <4th Quarter 2013>, EBM Reviews - Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials <October 2013>, EBM Reviews - Cochrane Methodology Register <3rd Quarter 2012>, EBM Reviews - Health Technology Assessment <4th Quarter 2013>, EBM Reviews - NHS Economic Evaluation Database <4th Quarter 2013>, Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1946 to November Week 3 2013>, Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations <November 27, 2013>.

Search Strategy:

#	Searches	Results
1	exp Patient Discharge/	19905
2	exp Aftercare/ or exp Convalescence/	10298
3	"Continuity of Patient Care"/ or exp "Recovery of Function"/	49399
4	((patient* adj2 discharge*) or after?care or post medical discharge* or post?discharge* or convalescen*).ti,ab.	37828
5	or/1-4	107305
6	exp Stroke/	89117
7	exp brain ischemia/ or exp intracranial hemorrhages/	132313
8	(stroke or poststroke or tia or transient ischemic attack or ((cerebral vascular or cerebrovascular) adj (accident* or infarct*)) or CVA or cerebrovascular apoplexy or brain infarct* or (brain adj2 isch?emia) or (cerebral adj2 isch?emia) or (intracranial adj2 h?emorrhag*) or (brain adj2 h?emorrhag*)).ti,ab.	199794
9	or/6-8	287112
10	exp Heart Failure/	93122
11	(((cardia? or heart) adj (decompensation or failure or incompetence or insufficiency)) or cardiac stand still or ((coronary or myocardial) adj (failure or insufficiency))).ti,ab.	135687
12	or/10-11	162171
13	exp Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive/	26665
14	exp Emphysema/	11098
15	(copd or coad or chronic airflow obstruction* or (chronic adj2 bronchitis) or emphysema).ti,ab.	59959
16	(chronic obstructive adj2 (lung* or pulmonary or airway* or airflow* or respiratory or bronchopulmonary) adj (disease* or disorder*)).ti,ab.	37701
17	or/13-16	84745
18	exp Pneumonia/	78260

19	(pneumoni* or peripneumoni* or pleuropneumoni* or lobitis or ((pulmon* or lung*) adj inflammation*)).ti,ab.	147195
20	or/18-19	174702
21	or/5,9,12,17,20	778857
22	exp Medication Reconciliation/	282
23	exp Medication Errors/	11392
24	exp "Drug Utilization Review"/	3231
25	exp Drug Monitoring/	15716
26	exp Pharmaceutical Services/	51222
27	(((medication* or medicine* or drug or drugs or pharmacist* or pharmacy or pharmacies or formulary or formularies or prescription* or prescrib*) adj3 (reconcil* or review* or discrepanc* or discontinuit* or assess* or audit*)) or (med* reconcil* or medrec* or med rec or stopp criteria* or beer's criteria)).ti,ab.	31691
28	or/22-27	103340
29	21 and 28	4660
30	Meta Analysis.pt.	52731
31	Meta-Analysis/ use mesz or exp Technology Assessment, Biomedical/ use mesz	61456
32	(meta analy* or metaanaly* or pooled analysis or (systematic* adj2 review*) or published studies or published literature or medline or embase or data synthesis or data extraction or cochrane).ti,ab.	210621
33	(meta analy* or metaanaly* or pooled analysis or (systematic* adj2 review*) or published studies or published literature or medline or embase or data synthesis or data extraction or cochrane).ti,ab.	210621
34	or/30-33	226141
35	29 and 34	230
36	limit 35 to (english language and yr="2008 -Current") [Limit not valid in CDSR,ACP Journal Club,DARE,CCTR,CLCMR; records were retained]	129
37	remove duplicates from 36	109

### **Appendix 2: Evidence Quality Assessment**

#### Table A1: AMSTAR Scores of Included Systematic Reviews

Author, Year	AMSTAR Score <sup>a</sup>	(1) Provided Study Design	(2) Duplicate Study Selection	(3) Broad Literature Search	(4) Considered Status of Publication	(5) Listed Excluded Studies	(6) Provided Characteristics of Studies	(7) Assessed Scientific Quality	(8) Considered Quality in Report	(9) Methods to Combine Appropriate	(10) Assessed Publication Bias	(11) Stated Conflict of Interest
Kwan et al, 2013 (13)	8	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	√b	x	X	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	√c	x	$\checkmark$

Abbreviation: AMSTAR, Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews.

<sup>a</sup>Maximum possible score is 11. Details of AMSTAR score are described in Shea et al. (11)

<sup>b</sup>This information is provided in Kwan et al. Supplement: Medication Reconciliation During Transitions of Care as a Patient Safety Strategy. http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=1656444&resultClick=3. <sup>c</sup>The article explicitly states that the populations included in the review are heterogeneous populations and only meta-analysis was performed on three similar RCTs.

#### Table A2: GRADE Evidence Profile for Comparison of Medication Reconciliation on Patient Outcomes in Randomized Controlled Trials

Number of Studies (Design)	ber of Studies Risk of Bias <sup>a</sup> Inconsi (Design)		s <sup>a</sup> Inconsistency Indirectness Imprecision		Publication Bias	Upgrade Considerations	Quality
30-day hospital readmission							
4 (RCTs)	No serious limitations	Serious limitations (–1) <sup>b</sup>	Serious limitations (–1) <sup>c</sup>	No serious limitations	Undetected	None	⊕⊕⊕ Moderate
30-day emergency visit							
3 (RCTs)	No serious limitations	Serious limitations (–1) <sup>b</sup>	Serious limitations (–1) <sup>c</sup>	No serious limitations	Undetected	None	⊕⊕⊕ Moderate
Clinically significant unintended discrepancies							
2 (RCTs)	No serious limitations	Serious limitations (-1) <sup>b</sup>	Serious limitations (–1)°	No serious limitations	Undetected	None	⊕⊕⊕ Moderate

Abbreviations: GRADE, Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation; RCT, randomized controlled trial.

<sup>a</sup> See table A4 for risk of bias details.

<sup>b</sup> Heterogeneity unexplained by the differing disease severity of populations.

<sup>c</sup> Medication Reconciliation was tested with multiple other interventions in most studies, so it is impossible to isolate this intervention.

### Table A3: GRADE Evidence Profile for Comparison of Medication Reconciliation on Patient Outcomes in Observational Studies

Number of Studies (Design)	Risk of Bias <sup>a</sup>	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Publication Bias	Upgrade Considerations	Quality
30-day hospital readmission							
2 (observational)	No serious limitations	No serious limitations	Serious limitations (–1) <sup>b</sup>	No serious limitations	Undetected	None	⊕⊕ Low
30-day emergency visit							
2 (observational)	No serious limitations	No serious limitations	Serious limitations (–1) <sup>b</sup>	No serious limitations	Undetected	None	⊕⊕ Low
Clinically significant unintended discrepancies							
1 (observational)	No serious limitations	No serious limitations	No serious limitations	No serious limitations	Undetected	None	⊕⊕ Low

<sup>a</sup> See Table A5 for risk of bias details.

<sup>b</sup> Medication Reconciliation was tested with multiple other interventions in most studies, so it is impossible to isolate this intervention.

#### Table A4: Risk of Bias Among Randomized Controlled Trials for the Comparison of Medication Reconciliation on Patient Outcomes

Author, Year	Allocation Concealment	Blinding	Complete Accounting of Patients and Outcome Events	Selective Reporting Bias	Other Limitations
Parry et al, 2009 (14)	No limitations	Limitations <sup>a</sup>	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations
Jack et al, 2009 (16)	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations
Koehler et al, 2009 (17)	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations
Schnipper et al, 2006 (18)	No limitations	Limitations <sup>b</sup>	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations
Kripalani et al, 2012 (20)	No limitations	Limitations <sup>c</sup>	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations

<sup>a</sup>The participants were not blinded to whether they were in the intervention or control group.

<sup>b</sup>Patients and pharmacists were not blinded to what group (intervention or control) participants were assigned to.

<sup>c</sup>One unblinded research coordinator from each site administered the randomization.

Author, Year	Appropriate Eligibility Criteria	Appropriate Measurement of Exposure	Appropriate Measurement of Outcome	Adequate Control for Confounding	Complete Follow-Up
Dedhia et al, 2009 (15)	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	Limitations <sup>a</sup>	No limitations
Walker et al, 2009 (19)	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations	No limitations

### Table A5: Risk of Bias Among Observational Trials for the Comparison of Medication Reconciliation on Patient Outcomes

<sup>a</sup>No statement of the variables controlled for in the analysis.

## References

- (1) Bates DW. Preventing medication errors: a summary. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2007 Jul 15;64(14 Suppl 9):S3-S9.
- (2) Tam VC, Knowles SR, Cornish PL, Fine N, Marchesano R, Etchells EE. Frequency, type and clinical importance of medication history errors at admission to hospital: a systematic review. CMAJ. 2005 Aug 30;173(5):510-5.
- (3) Coleman EA, Smith JD, Raha D, Min SJ. Posthospital medication discrepancies: prevalence and contributing factors. Arch Intern Med. 2005 Sep 12;165(16):1842-7.
- (4) Wong JD, Bajcar JM, Wong GG, Alibhai SM, Huh JH, Cesta A, et al. Medication reconciliation at hospital discharge: evaluating discrepancies. Ann Pharmacother. 2008 Oct;42(10):1373-9.
- (5) Coleman EA, Berenson RA. Lost in transition: challenges and opportunities for improving the quality of transitional care. Ann Intern Med. 2004 Oct 5;141(7):533-6.
- (6) Hughes RG. Tools and strategies for quality improvement and patient safety. In: Hughes RG, ed. *Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2008. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2682/
- (7) Pronovost P, Weast B, Schwarz M, Wyskiel RM, Prow D, Milanovich SN, et al. Medication reconciliation: a practical tool to reduce the risk of medication errors. J Crit Care. 2003 Dec;18(4):201-5.
- (8) Institute for Healthcare Improvement. How-to-Guide: Prevent Adverse Drug Events by Implementing Medication Reconciliation. 2013. Available from: <u>http://www.ihi.org/resources/</u><u>Pages/Tools/HowtoGuidePreventAdverseDrugEvents.aspx</u>
- (9) Safer Healthcare Now! Medication Reconciliation (Acute Care). 2011 [cited 201 Nov 17]. Available from: <u>www.saferhealthcarenow.ca</u>
- (10) Accreditation Canada. Medication Reconciliation in Canada: Raising The Bar Progress to date and the course ahead. Ottawa, ON: 2012. Available from: http://www.accreditation.ca/sites/default/files/med-rec-en.pdf
- (11) Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2007;7:10.
- (12) Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Schunemann HJ, Tugwell P, Knottnerus A. GRADE guidelines: a new series of articles in the Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011 Apr;64(4):380-2.
- (13) Kwan JL, Lo L, Sampson M, Shojania KG. Medication reconciliation during transitions of care as a patient safety strategy: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2013;158(5 Pt:2):397-403.

- (14) Parry C, Min SJ, Chugh A, Chalmers S, Coleman EA. Further application of the care transitions intervention: results of a randomized controlled trial conducted in a fee-for-service setting. Home Health Care Serv Q. 2009;28(2-3):84-99.
- (15) Dedhia P, Kravet S, Bulger J, Hinson T, Sridharan A, Kolodner K, et al. A quality improvement intervention to facilitate the transition of older adults from three hospitals back to their homes. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009 Sep;57(9):1540-6.
- (16) Jack BW, Chetty VK, Anthony D, Greenwald JL, Sanchez GM, Johnson AE, et al. A reengineered hospital discharge program to decrease rehospitalization: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2009 Feb 3;150(3):178-87.
- (17) Koehler BE, Richter KM, Youngblood L, Cohen BA, Prengler ID, Cheng D, et al. Reduction of 30-day postdischarge hospital readmission or emergency department (ED) visit rates in high-risk elderly medical patients through delivery of a targeted care bundle. J Hosp Med. 2009 Apr;4(4):211-8.
- (18) Schnipper JL, Kirwin JL, Cotugno MC, Wahlstrom SA, Brown BA, Tarvin E, et al. Role of pharmacist counseling in preventing adverse drug events after hospitalization. Arch Intern Med. 2006 Mar 13;166(5):565-71.
- (19) Walker PC, Bernstein SJ, Jones JN, Piersma J, Kim HW, Regal RE, et al. Impact of a pharmacistfacilitated hospital discharge program: a quasi-experimental study. Arch Intern Med. 2009 Nov 23;169(21):2003-10.
- (20) Kripalani S, Roumie CL, Dalal AK, Cawthon C, Businger A, Eden SK, et al. Effect of a pharmacist intervention on clinically important medication errors after hospital discharge: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2012 Jul 3;157(1):1-10.

Health Quality Ontario 130 Bloor Street West, 10<sup>th</sup> Floor Toronto, Ontario M5S 1N5 Tel: 416-323-6868 Toll Free: 1-866-623-6868 Fax: 416-323-9261 Email: <u>EvidenceInfo@hqontario.ca</u> www.hqontario.ca

© Queen's Printer for Ontario, 2015